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November 12, 1985

North American Inspection, Inc.
P.0O. Box 88
Laurys Station, PA 18059

Attention: Robert K, Shumway, President

SUBJECT: EVALUATION OF NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
INSPECTION FINDINGS, NRC INSPECTION REPORT
NOS. 030-20982/84-01 AND 030-20982/85-01 AND EA-85-01

Dear Mr. Shumway:

In response to your request, the Radiological Services Division
(RSD) of Hydro Nuclear Services, Inc. (HNS), a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of Westinahouse Electric = urporation, has reviewed the results
of USNRC inspections conducted on October 18 and 19, 1984 and
January 10 and 16, 1985 and subsequent reports dated November 8,
1984 (Report MNo. 030-20982/84-01) and February 12, 1985 (Report No.
030-20982/85-01) and the Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of
Civil Penalty dated February 6, 1985 (EA-85-01) which were issued to
North American inspection Inc. (NAIl).

This evaluation was performed by interviews of North American
Inspection, Inc., personnel, record reviews of North American Inspec-
tion's program and the NRC inspection reports, Notice of Violation and
Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty and subsequent correspondence
between NRC and North American Inspection, Inc. HNS also performed
independent measurements and calculations based upon both North
American Inspection, Inc. and Nuclear Pegulatory Commission statements
in various correspondence. For simplicity and clarity, each of the
twelve (12) NRC findings and citations in the enclosed report has been
organized in the following format:

- Statement of the citation
- Identification of the NRC requirement
- Excerpts from the appropriate inspection report(s)

- ldentification of paraaraph(s) from which excerpt(s) were
taken

TOTAL NUCLEAR SUPPORT



Mr. R. Shumway
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- Statement of NRC requirement

- Apparent violation of requirement

- HNS findings and discussion

At the conclusion of this report is a summary statement that
includes observations made by HNS's professional evaluation team con-
cerning NAIl corrective actions and management program changes that
have taken place since the first inspection. The final portion concludes
with recommendations to NAIl concerning the options they have con-
cerning the escalated enforcement action.

Should you have questions concerning any portion of this report
please call me at (215) 337-0750 or 9960.

Sincerely,

Aot

James F. Nicolosi, Manager
Byproduct Materials Programs

JFN/cen

Enclosure as Stated
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PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

The information contained in this document is the proprietary informa-
tion of Hydro Nuclear Services, a wholly owned subsidiary of Westing-
house Electric Corporation, and North American Inspection, Incorp-
orated. In this regard, this document may only be used by, or with
the expressed permission of, North American Inspection, Incorporated.
No other use, disclosure, or copy, in whole or in part may be distri-
buted or revealed to any individual or organization outside of North
American Inspection, Incorporated without the prior permission of Hydro
Nuclear Services or North American Inspection, Incorporated.



EXECUTIVE SUMMA .

As a result of the Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil
Penalty issued on February 6, 1985 by the Nuclear Regulatory Commis-
sion (NRC) and the NRC's decision in a letter dated August 7, 1985
that all violations occurred as stated and that no mitigation of the
$5,000 civil penaity was warranted, North American Inspectior, Inc.
(NAIl) contacted the Radiological Services Division (RSD) of Hydro
Nuclear Services (HNS), and requested HNS to conduct an independent
evaluation of the NRC findings. The evaluation included interviews of
NAIl personnel, review of NAll's records, review of NRC
correspondence (NRC Inspection Reports Nos. 030-20980/84-01,
030-20980/85-01, [EA-85-01, 030-20980/85-02, and a letter dated
August 7, 1985) and subsequent responses of NAIl to the NRC. The
above mentioned NRC reports and letters are included as Attachments

1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 respectively to this report.

The following is a summary of HNS's findings regarding each violation
cited by NRC against NAIl:

k] Allowing unqualified individuals to act as radiographers

HNS does not agree with this NRC finding. Individual A, a fully
qualified radiographer was present at the field site during the

inspection. While it is true that Individual B and C had not



cﬁp(é’ed all of the training reguirements, they were acting under
the superw'éipn of Individual A, who shouid have observed and
supervised their activities at all times. The fact that he tempor-
arily went into the pbrtable darkroom appears more that NAIll was
in noncompliance with 10 CFR 34.44(c). The training issue
should have been treated separately. HNS concludes that NAIl did

not violate 10 CFR 34.31(a).

Did not maintain direct surveillance over a high radiation area.

HNS disagrees with this NRC finding. Interviews with Individual
C indicate that the location of the Cobalt-60 was approximately 20
feet from the brick and mortar concrete wall when the inspector
made his measurement on the other side of that wall. That wall is
15.5 inches using the Inverse Square Law for the distance from
the source to the point of measurement and Half Value Layer
determinations for the collimator and the concrete wall. The
maximum radiation dose rate is calculated to be 0,04 millirems/

hour. HNS concludes that NAll did not violate 10 CFR 34,41,

Radiation levels in excess of 2 milliroentgens in any hour or 100

milliroentgens in any seven consecutive days in an uncontrolled

area,

HNS does not agree with either portion of this citation, For the

alleged violation on October 18, 1984, HNS evaluation indicates that




the maximum radiation dose rate behind the wall is 0.008 millirem
in an hour. Therefore, NAIl did not violate 10 CFR 20.105(b) at

the Bethlehem Steel field site.

For the alleged violation on October 4 1985 the NRC inspection
report did not evaluate information on the Daily Radiation Survey
Report that appeared contradictory in nature but that would have
demonstrated that the radiation dose rate in the restaurant could
not have been greater than two milliroentgens in an hour.
Therefore, NAIl was in compliance for radiation dose rates in this

ur. estricted area adjacent ‘o its own facility.

Did not have an audible/visible alarm system at permanent radiography

installation.

HNS does not agree with this NRC finding. NRC inspectors did
not examine NAIll records carefuily in this matter. They would
have found that from the date of issue of the license to the date
of the first inspection MAIl had used the facility for a temporary
field site on only 22 occasions. 10 CFR 20.203(c)(4) does not
require an audible/visible alarm system in the case of a high
radiation area established for a period of 30 days or less. There-

fore, NAIl did not violate 10 CFR 34.29'b).
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K Did not comply with Department of Transportation requirements as

specified in 10 CFR 71.5.

HNS agrees with these NRC findings.

B Did not adequately survey a radiographic exposure device at the

conclusion of a radiographic exposure.

HNS does not totally agree with this NRC finding. License Condi-
tion 17 of NAll's license grants an exemption from the circumfer-
ential survey of an exposure device after the termination of an
exposure. Therefore, NAIl did not comply with the guide tube

survey requirement only as stated in 10 CFR 34.43(b).

. Did not maintain utilization logs indtcatlﬂ the plant or site where

the radiation exposure devices are use.

HNS does not agree with this NRC finding. A utilization log
containing the required information exists for the date shown in
the Notice of Violation and was created in a fashion consistent with
License Condition 17 that satisfies the requirement 10 CFR 34.27.

Therefore no violation of 10 CFR 34.27 occurred.



Did not submit personnel termination reports for four (4) indi-

viduals to the NRC.

HNS does not fully agree with this NRC finding. NAIl did not
submit termination reports, as required, for two individuals within
the specified time period. However, the report for the other two
individuals were not due to NRC until November, 1984 and
January, 1985. This was identified during the inspection
October 18 and 19, 1984. The NRC inspectors apparently did not
deem it important to adequately verify the dates of all four (4)
terminations. The termination dates were not documented in NRC

Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01,

Did not have a gqualified radiographer from another company com-

plete a practical examination before being assigned to perform

radiography.

HNS agrees with this NRC finding.

Failure to secure a radiography source in a shielded position after

each exposure,

HNS agrees with this NRC finding.



(1) CITATION: ALLOWING UNQUALIFIED PERSONNEL TO ACT

AS RADIOCRAPHERS

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34:31(a)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraphs 3 and 4

The inspectnrs observed the radiographic operations at a field site
location on the property of Bethlehem Steel Co., Bethiehem, PA. In
Bethlehem's Old World War |l Building (Project #17), the licensee was
performing radiographic operations using both cobalt ard iridium
sources at either end of the building. Individual B was setting up,
cranking out and rewinding the iridium source, and surveying the
exposure device. Individual A was in the mobile dark room developing
film. Individual C was setting up, cranking out and rewinding the
cobalt source, and surveying the exposure device. Individual D was
assisting Individual C. During the course of the inspection, Individual
A exchanged jobs with Individual B. Individual B developed film in the
dark room and Individuali A acted as the radiographer with the iridium

source,

The inspector reviewed the licensee training program. Individual A has
taken the radiographic examination to be a Level || radiographer.

Individual B has taken the radiographic examination to be a Level |



radiographer (radiographer's assistant). Individual C has had 40 hours
of radiation training, but has not passed the rzdiographer's assistance
examination, Individual D has had 8 hours of training and is con-
sidered to be a helper or trainee. Both the Assistant RSO and Indi-
vidual A consider Individuals B and C to be radiographer's assistants

and Individual D to be a helper or trainee,.

The finding that two individuals (Individuals B and C) were acting as
radiographers prior to completing a demonstration of competence to use
the radiography equipment and without demonstration of their under-
standing of the operating instructions by successfully completing a

written test is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 34.31.a.

NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.31(a) requires that no individual act as a radiographer until
that individual can demonstrate his understandinag of the instructions
which he has received regarding the subjects covered in Appendix A of
Part 34 and has successfuilly completed a written test and a field exam-

ination on the subjects covered.

Contrary to the above on October 18,1984, at a field site in Bethlehem,
Pennsylvania, individuals were permitted to act as radiographers prior
to demonstrating their understanding of the subjects outlined in Ap-

pendix A of Part 34, prior to passing a written test, and prior to



demonstrating their competence to use the 'icensee's radiographic ex-

posure devices, survey instruments, and reiated handling tools.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01 states that Individual A had
taken the radiographic examination to be a Level !l radiographer and
that Individual B had taken the radiographic examination to be a Level
| radiographer (radiographer's assistant). Apparently, the NRC in-
spectors did not realize that Level | and Level |l radiographic qual-
ification examinations apply to the requirements of the American Society
of Nondestructive Testing (x-ray film interpretation, film placement
techniques, etc.) and are in no way related to the radiographer and
radiographer's assistant examinations required by 10 CFR 34 and by
License Condition 17 of NRC License No. 37-23370-01., The American
Society of Nondestructive Testing (ASNT) requirements are additional
Society requirements that do not come under the purview of NRC for
non-reactor byproduct material applications. The NRC inspectors came
to an incorrect conclusion about NAIl personnel training qualifications
in this area. HNS notes that NAIl did not submit ASNT Level | and Il
examinations in the license application, therefore, the inspectors com-

ments appear inappropriate.

NAIl could not produce Individual B's written radiographer examination

(as per 10 CFR 34) and the radiographic procedures examination re-



quired by License Condition 17 because the Radiation Safety Officer,
(who wrote the NAII license application and listed himself as Radiati

Safety Officer) had administered the examinations and misfiled them
elsewhere other than in Individual B's personnel folder. Individual A,
the husband of Individual B, knew that his wife had taken and passed
the radiographer's examination, the radiographic procedures examin-
ation, and the ASNT Level | examination but because the tests could
not be located during the inspection, Individual A could only admit that
his wife was a radiographer's assistant as per the inspectors inter-
pretation that a ASNT Level | examination was the same as an assistant

radiographer's examination,

The inspection report (84-01) indicates that Individual B had taken the
written examination to be a ASNT Level | radiographer (Level |) prior
to the inspection While this is true for the record reviewed, HNS's
record review and interview indicated that the written tests taken by
Individual B was for a radiographer, not a radiographer's assistant (see
Attachment 6) as Individual B had previously been an assistant radio-
grapher with Imperial Inspection Incorporated a company located in the
State of Louisiana. This is supported by NRC Inspection Report No.
30-20982/85-02 (paragraph 3) in which the inspection findings contradict
the inspection findings in NRC Inspection Report 30-20982/84-01, NRC
Report No. 030-20982/85-02 is included as Attachment 4 to this report.

The excerpt from paragraph 3 of that report is:

Individual B (actual name removed) had 40 hours of radiation safety



training provided by Imperial Inspection incorporated, on June 12,

1983. Individual B passed the MAIll Radiographer Examination on

April 17, 1984 and received a 70% score; she passed the Radiographic
Procedure Exam on April 19, 1984 and received 80% score; and she
passed the practical performance examination on February 25, 1985 (end

of excerpt).

The NRC's letter dated August 7, 1985 (Appendix; p. 2) to NAIll also
acknowledaes this fact but did not change the citation in the Notice of
Violation to reflect that fact that one individual had, indeed, taken the
two written examinations required by 10 CFR 34.31 and License Condi-

tion 17,

HNS agrees that the practical examination for Individual B had not been
documented. Interviews with the President of NAIl indicated that the
Radiation Safety Officer, originally named in the license application, had
administered the practical examination but had not documented that fact
in the file. Additionally, Individual A, a qualified radiographer and
the husband of Individual B had instructed and observed his wife
correctly complete the elements of the practical examination as listed in
License Condition 17. License Condition 17 dues not state who speci-
fically may administer any of ‘he examinations. It appears to imply that
one who is qualified at that level may administer the examination,
Individual A indicated that on a number of occasions he had observed
his wife correctly perform the elements contained in the practical exam-

ination, It seems that for her the citation should be for not adequately



documenting the practical examination rather than for not allowing an
"unqualified" individual to act as a radiographer. Individual C, while
having completed 40 hours of training had not taken the written and

practical examinations to be an assistant radiographer.

The Notice of Violation states that "individuals" (B and C) were allowed
to act as radiographers prior to passing a written test and practical
examination. T.'he intent of 10 CFR 34.31(a) is to prohibit licensees
from assigning untrained and unqualified individuals out on their own to
perform radiography in the absence of a qualified individual. NAIll had
a qualified radiographer (Individual A) as per 10 CFR 34.31(a) at the
field site on October 18, 1985. NRC Inspection Report 030-20982/84-01
notes that Individual A was inside the portable dark room during the
inspectors observation. That truck was located 50 to 60 yards from
each crank out point. While he could not visibly see Individual B and
C, he could hear them if they had requested assistance, as there is no
industrial manufacturing going on in that section or the adjacent parti-
tioned area. Therefore, it would seem that NAIl did not comply 10 CFR
34.44(c) (Supervision of radiographer's assistants), in that Individual A
did not visibly observe Individuals B and C while radiography was
being conducted. As for the training evaluation, in the case of Indi-
vidual B, NAIl did not comply with 10 CFR 34.31(c) by not administer-

ing a practical examination to Individual B,

In the case of Individual C, NAIli did not comply with 10 CFR

34.31(b)(3) by not administering written and practical examinations



after training. Therefore, NAIl did not violate 10 CFR 34.31(a) in the

Notice of Violation in EA-8501 (Attachment 3).

Finally, NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01 states in paragraph 3 that
NAIl was conducting radiography at both ends of the building. This is
incorrect as NAIl personnel occupied only one bay at the end of a four-bay

building (also see HNS Finding and Discussion in next section).




(2) CITATION: DID NOT MAINTAIN DIRECT SURVEILLANCE

OVER A HICH RADIATION AREA

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34,41

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraph 3

The inspector surveyed the radiation levels in the building ad acent to
the end of the building where the cobalt exposures were taking place.
Radiation leveis of 200 millirems per hour were measured approximately
two feet from the wall while the <obalt source was in the exposed
position. It was noted that the licensee did not survey this area in the
adjacent building and that there was no continual surveillance by the
individual performing radiography to protect against unauthorized entry
into this high radiation area. In addition, there were no barriers

erected around the iridium or cobalt exposure areas.

The finding that the radiographer failed to maintain direct surveillance
to protect against unauthorized entry into the high radiation area in the
building adjacent to the cobalt exposure area is an apparent violation of

10 CFR 34.41,



NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-8501: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.41 requires the radiographer or radiographer's assistant to
maintain direct surveillance of the operation to protect against un-

authorized entry into a high radiation area.

Contrary to the above, on October 18, 1984, at a field site in
Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, a high radiation area existed in a building
adjacent to the area where radiographic operations were being
performed, and direct surveillance was not maintained to protect against

unauthorized entry into the high radiation area.

HNS FINDINCS AND DISCUSS!ON

HNS does not agree with this NRC finding. Interviews with Individual
C indicate that the Cobalt 60 exposure device was approximately 20 feet
from the interior concrete wall (brick and mortar) which partitioned this
area from the adjacent area where the NRC inspector made his measure-
ment on the other side of that wall. That wall is 15.5 inches thick.
The radiography source activity was 93 curies. The collimator used
with the exposure device has an 11 half value layer exposure reduction
factor. The distance between the collimated source (exposed in the
downward condition) and the point of the NRC measurement is 23,25
feet. Using the gamma ray constant (r') for cobalt-60 and the attenu-

ation factor . * concrete listed on pages 48 and 58 respectively in



Working Safely In Gamma Radiography, an NRC publication, HNS calc-

ulates a maximum radiation exposure rate of 0.04 millirem per hour.

Additional interviews with Individual C indicated that the NRC inspector
did not have NAli personnel or the other inspector verify the 200
millirems per hour reading. The 84-01 report also does not detail what
type of instrumentation was used by the inspector (0 make the measure-
ment or the calibration date of that instrumentation. Even if NAIll had
used an uncollimated Cobalt-60 source, the radiation dose rate two feet
behind the concrete wall is calculated to be 79 millirem per hour..
Therefore HNS cannot reproduce the "200 millirems per hour" value
noted in the report., HNS notes that paragraph 10 of the NRC report

documents the type of instrumentation (with the calibration date) used

by the inspector, such that HNS could verify the inspector's findings.

Evaluation of NAll's Dailv Radiation Survey Report, Utilization Log and
Employee Daily Time Sheet for October 18, 1985 (see Attachment 7)
indicated the Cobalt-60 source was exposed for one hour and 45 minutes
(105 minutes) over a nine hour period for a total of 30 radiographs.
The time sheet shows 10 hours but, one hour was for travel to and
from the field site. This process allowed an averaage of 3.3 radiographs
to be completed each hour., Therefore each radiograph required 3.5
minutes. This totals 11.5 minutes of radiation exposure per hour,
This means that the radiation dose to the unrestricted area was 0.008
millirems in an hour., This does not qualify the adjacent area as a high

radiatior. area as claimed in the NRC inspection report. Therefore NAII

10



did not violate 10 CFR 34,41, Finally, Individual C's pocket dosimeter
reading for the nine hour period of operation indicated he had received
35 millirems. Since he was much closer to the Cobalt-60 source, this

would tend to discount the 200 millirem measurement,

HNS notes in NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/85-02 (parag~-aph 5)
the inspectors show independent measurements and calcuiations to
demonstrate the NAIl was in compliance with 10 CFR 20.105(b)f1) with
regards to a radiation area as defined by 10 CFR 20.202(b)(2). NRC
Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01 shows no calculations to demion-
strate noncompliance such that NAIl can adequately respond to the

apparent violation,

There is also an inaccuracy in the statement of the conditions of the
NRC finding. There was no "adjacent building" as all work areas and
adjacent areas surveyed by the inspectors were in the same building
(World War |l Building Project #17) which has four (4) partitioned areas
under one roof. As stated previously, this building measures 900 feet
x 300 feet. NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01 states the

condition of this finding incorrectly in the two identified instances in

paragraph 3.

An interview with Individual A a!so indicated that he made Bethlehem
Steei Corporation employees working at the other end of the building
(approximately 700 feet away) aware of NAIll's presence and purpose,

Individual A also stated that there was a chain link fence around the

n



entire building with only two entry points. One was at the other end
of the building where Bethlehem Steel Corporation employees would
periodically enter to work in the opposite partioned end of that building
which was separated from the NAIl by three concrete walls. The other
was at the entry point where NAIl personnel were working. NRC

Inspection Report 030-20982/84-01 does not detail these items.

In the NRC letter dated August 7, 1985, (see Attachment 5, Appendix;
p. 3),.the letter states that the information given to the NRC in-
spectors by the Bethlehem Steel Company personnel indicate that the
Fire Marshall was required to enter this area periodically during his
routine tours of the Bethlehem facility. Three things are important

here:

1. This iniormation never appears in any of the NRC inspection
reports so that NAIl could adequately respond to the apparent

violation,

2. NAll's own internal investigation indicated that the Fire Marshall is

only required to pass by the building (not enter it} during his

rounds.
3. At one point individual A, before conducting radiography at the

field site, had checked both sides of the building and found the

Fire Marshall sleeping in his cor because it was a remote part of

12



the plant. Individual A woke up the Fire Marshall and had him

leave the area. Whatever conversations the NRC inspectors had |
with the Fire Marshall, it appears that it may have been in his
best interest to lie to the NRC by claiming no knowledge of NAll's

presence.

13



(3) CITATION: RADIATION LEVELS IN EXCESS OF 2 MILLIROENT-

GENS IN ANY HOUR

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 20.105(b)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT 030-20982/84-01

Paragraph 3 and 5

The inspectors surveyed the radiatiun levels in the building adjacent to
the end of the building where the cobalt exposures were taking place.
Radiation levels of 200 millirem per hour were measured approximately
two feet from the wall while the cobalt source was in the exposed
position. The finding that an exposure rate greater than 200 mr/hr
existed in an unrestricted area is an apparent violation of 10 CFR

20.105(b).

The licensee's "Daily Radiation Survey Report," dated October 4, 1984,
indicates that the license was radiograrhing weld plates using 100
curies of iridium=-192 in this facility., The survey stated that there was
"2 mr" at a boundary which existed at 200 feet from the source in all
four directions. On the survey report, it was noted that signs were
posted, that the radiog: ;pher had direct surveillance over the source,

and that a tungsten collimator was used.

14



The finding that a radiation leve! in excess of 2 millirem in any one
hour was present in an unrestricted area (restaurant) is an apparent

violation of 10 CFR 20,105,

NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-85-01; REPORT DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 20.105(b) required that radiation levels in unrestricted areas be
limited so that an individual who was continuously present in the area
could not receive a dose in excess of 2 millirems in any hour or 100

millirems in any seven consecutive days,

Contrary to the above,

On October 18, 1984, at a field site in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania,
radiation levels of 200 millirems per hour existed in an unre-
stricted area of an adjacent building when radiography was being
coriuucted using a cobalt-60 source. Access to this area was not

controlled for the purpose of radiation protection,

- On October 4, 1984, radiation levels in excess of the limits set
forth in 10 CFR 20.105(b) existed in a restaurant which is located
44 feet from the licensee's facility in Laurys Station, Pennsylvania

in which radiography took place.

15



HNS Findings and Discussion

HNS disagrees with the NRC finding in Violation C.1. in the Notice of
Violation (EA-85-01) at the field site in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania for the
reasons stated in the previous discussion on page 7 of this report.
The inspection report has not clearly established through calculations
and other information that 10 CFR 20.105(b) was violated. Addition-

ally, the NRC's violation statement in C.1, quotes a radiation dose rate.

It does not show that a dose of 2 millirems in any hour or 100 millirem
in any seven consecutive days was violated. Therefore, it is techni-

cally incorrect,

HNS does not agree with the NRC finding regarding Item C.2, in the
Notice of Violation in NRC EA-85-01 dated February 6, 1985, HNS
reviewed the Daily Survey Report [Form RS-4-4 (Rev. 0)] for
October 4, 1985 (see Attachment 8) and interviewed NAIl personnel,
HNS noted that an Iridium-192 source of 110 curies was used with a
tungsten collimator (1.25" x 1.25") to make a five (5) minute exposure
in the NAIl building. The open end of the collimator faced the north-
ern wall, The collimator affords an ex'posure reduction valve of four
(4) half valve layers. The exposure was made in the northwest corner
of the building. The source was placed about one foot above the
surface of the floor and exposed downward through the collimator,
This portion of the building is approximately five (5) feet beneath
ground level because of the natural contour of the land with the north

and west walls constructed of eight (8) inch thick cinder blocks.

16



There is a restaurant which has a back wall located 91 feet to the east
from the point where the radiograph was made. The floor of the restaur-
ant is located at least six (6) to seven (7) feet below the floor surface
of the NAIl building, again because of the contour of the land. The
eastern wall of the NAIl building is 44 feet from the western wall
(back) of the restaurant. The area in between (44 feet) is filled with
earth (see Attachment 9). NAIl uses the northwest corner of this
building when they set up a temporary field .site to perform gamma
radiography. The gamma ray constant (r) for Iridium-192 from the

Radiological Health Handbook is 0.48 Roentgen/hour @ 1.0 meter/curie,

Using 110 curies as the source strength and taking credit for t! ‘our
(4) half value layers (HVL) of the tungsten collimator, the gamma ray
constant is reduced to 3.3 Roentgen/hour @ 1.0 meter/curie. Using the
Inverse Square Law and calculating for a five (5) minute exposure the

following values were obtained:

Distance 5 Minute Radiation Exposure % Limit
44 feet 1.52 milliroentgen 75.0%
91 feet 0.37 milliroentgen 18.5%

The NRC allowable limit is 2.0 millirems in any one hour in an unre-
stricted area. Using the gamma ray constant from an official NRC

publication (Werking Safely In Camma Radiography) the exposure values

would be ever lower. Addltlonallx, there are three (3) cinder block

walls each eigh: (8) inches thick between the location of the gamma

17



radiography work in the NAIl facility and the restaurant intarior to the
east. HNS feels it is a fair assumption to assign one (1) HVL value of
concrete (1.75 inches) for each cinder block wall. The level of radia-
tion at the restaurant interior is therefore reduced to 0.04 miilirem
which is only 2.0% of the allowable limit. Theoretically, even if the
radiation exposure was made at the 44 feet distance from the restau-
rant, which it was not, there are still two eight (8) inch cinder block
walls. Using 2 HVLs, this would further reduce the 1.52 milliroentgen
value at this distance to 0.38 milliroentgen which is 19% of the allowable
NRC limit for radiation levels in the unrestricted areas. HNS notes
that the inspection report never mentions that the location of the radio-
graphic exposure was 91 feet from the back wall of the restaurant.
Individual A stated that the NRC inspectors never questioned him as to
the conditions and location of this radiograph with respect to the rest-

aurant,

HNS did note that the radiographer calculated the 2.0 milliroentgen line
at two hundred feet from an unshielded Iridium-192 source using a
chart of standard table values which incorporates the Inverse Square
Law for known source activities of Iridium-192 at various distances,
HNS could not reproduce these results. It appears that the radio-
grapher was careless in calculating and recording the two milliroentgen
line. In fact, NAII gave this individual a written reprimand and was
suspended for three (3) days without pay for his negligence (see
Attachment 8). However, the NRC Inspection Report No, 030-20982/

84-01 shows no calculations to demonstrate noncompliance., Additionally,
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HNS could not reproduce the "11 millirems during a two hour period"
calculation which was given in the NRC press release (1-85-24) to the
news media (see Attachment 10)., HNS notes that the inspection report
does not mention this "11 millirem" value. However, HNS could re-
produce this NRC "11 millirems" calculation for the October 18, 1985
field site measurement at the Bethlehem Steel Corporation plant, There-
fore it appears that the NRC press release is incorrect in stating that
this wac the radiation dose in the restaurant., HNS believes the ap-
parent Violation C.2. did not occur and that radiation levels greater
than 2.0 milliroentgen per hour never existed in the restaurant based
upon the Inverse Square Law, Half Value Layer determinations and a
1979 radiation survey and profile submitted as Exhibit 3 to NRC on
February 21, 1985 by NAIl. HNS believes that, at most, NAIl did not
adequately maintain survey records, a violation of 10 CFR 20.401.
Moreover, the radiographer's pocket dosimeter information as entered on
Form RS-4-4 (Rev. O) dated October 4, 1984, read O (zero) milli-
roentgens both at the beginning and at the end of the exposure. The
dosimeter had been checked for response to radiation as required by 10
CFR 34.33 (b). This device was more likely to register the higher
radiation dose levels the NRC claims to have been in the restaurant as
the radiographer was much closer to the source during the five minute
exposure period than anyone who may have been in the restaurant.
Finally, NAIl keeps 2 film badge monitors from a NAVLAP certified
service at the walls of their upper and lower offices at the facility, as
additional indicators of radiation exposure inside the facility., These

offices are on the side closest to the restaurant. This information was
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not mentioned in NRC Inspector Report No. 030-20982/84-01, HNS
calculations show between May 20, 1984 to August 19, 1985, the average
radiation levels were between 0.5 - 0.6 milliroentgen per day. No
mention of these last two facts is made in NRC Inspection Report
030-20982/ 84-01. HNS could not verify and relate the "70 millirems"
stated in the NRC press release to a meaningful regulatory application.
HNS notes that the NRC press release is the first NRC document in its
inspection activities concerning NAIl that demonstrates any "calculated"

numbers even though they appear to be wrong.

On February 21, 1985, the President of NAIl submitted a reply to the
Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty to the
Director, Office of Inspection and Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regula-
tory Commission. In Exhibit 3 of that reply, a radiation survey and
profile of the Laurys Station, Pennsylvania facility was performed using
100 curies of Iridium-192 on February 20, 1979. The survey indicated
that the facility could be used, if necessary, as a temporary field site
to conduct gamma radiography and demonstrated the results of a radia-
tion survey using a collimator. The survey indicated no measurable
radiation levels outside the facility toward the restaurant. The physical

characteristics of the facility have not changed since that survey.

In NRC's August 7, 1985, letter (Appendix; p.3) to NAIl, the letter
extends its comments beyond the scope of the original citation in the

Notice of Violation concerning radiation levels in unrestricted areas at
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the south end of the NAII facility. That information was not included
in the Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01 and Notice of Violation,

such that NAIl could adequately respond to the NRC.
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(4) CITATION: DID NOT HAVE AN AUDIBLE ALARM SYSTEM AT

A PERMANENT RADIOGRAPHIC FACILITY

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34, 29(b)

Excerpts From NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraph 7

The building which is intended for the performance of radiography and
in which radiography is regularly performed is not equipped with either

a visible or audible warning signal to warn of the presence of radiation.
The finding that neither a visible nor audible warning signal activated
by radiation was installed in the permanent radiographic installation is an

apparent violation of 10 CFR 34.29.(b)

NRC Apparent Violation (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.29(b) requires that each entrance used for personnel access
to the high radiation area in a permanent radiographic installation have
both visible and audible warning signals to warn of the presence of
radiation. The visible signal is required to be actuated by radiation
whenever the source is exposed and the audible signal is required to be
actuated when an attempt is made to enter the installation while the

source is exposed.
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Contrary to the above, as of Octobe- 19, 1984, the permanent radio-
graphic installation located in the Laurys Station, Pennsylvania, facility

did not have the required warning signals installed.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

The NAII license application to NRC dated January 31, 1984 contains no
reference to any permanent radiographic facility at the Laurys Station,
Pennsylvania facility. The inspection report's statement in paragraph 7
that the building is intended for the. performance of routine gamma
radiography is not based on license application facts as no permanent
radiographic facility is described in this document. The NRC's letter
dated August 7, 1985 (Appendix; p.4), to NAIl indicated that two
different radiography firms have previously performed gamma radio-
graphy there since at least 1979. While that may be factual information,
the past has no bearing on the present case as NAI| represents a new
licensee. Additionally, that fact Is not documented in any of the in-
spection reports. HNS noted that NRC had not cited these past two
licensees for violations of 10 CFR 34.29(b) although gamma radiographic
operations were conducted in the Laurys Station facility. Finally, the
NRC August 7, 1985 letter indicates that the Laurys Station facility
contained a "shielded structure" for the conduct of radiography. HNS
could find no indication of this in any NAII correspondence to NRC,

HNS inspection of the facility indicated that a "shielded structure" is not

present,
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10 CFR 20.203 (c) (4) states that in the case of a high radiation area
established for a period of 30 days or less, direct surveillance to pre-
vent unauthorized entry may be substituted for the controls required by

paragraph (c)(2) of that section.

During interviews with NAIll personnel and record review it was noted
that NAIl had used this facility from April 5, 1984 to October 18 and 19,
1984, (the days of inspections) for a period of 22 nonconsecutive days to
perform gamma radiography in the northwest corner of the building.
The NRC report did not document that the 30 day period had been
exceeded. Therefore, 10 CFR 34.29(b) does not apply and was there-

fore not violated.
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(5) CITATION: DID NOT COMPLY WITH D.O.T. REQUIREMENTS

SPECIFIED IN 10 CFR 71.5

REQUIREMENTS: 10 CFR 71.5 (a)

Ref: 49 CFR 172.403(:)

49 CFR 172.504(a,

49 CFR 173.488(a)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraphs 7 and 10

A licensee representative stated that only the cobalt exposure device
was stored in this building. All of the locked iridium exposure devices
are stored inside a pick-up truck with the door locked. The exposure

devices are not placed inside a shielded vault when they are not in

use.

The iridium exposure device was being stored inside the portable dark
room on a pick up truck. A licensee representative stated this source
was used the previous evening. The door to the dark room was
locked. No signs or placards were observed on the truck or portable

dark room.

The iridium source was inside a Tech/Ops Model 660 exposure device,

which is a Type B container [USA/9033/B(U)]. The inspector, using
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the licensee's survey meter, a Ludlum Model 6, calibrated on 7-25-84,
measured the radiation levels at contact and 3 feet from the surface.
Measurement at the surface was 60 mr/hr and at 3 feet was in the
range of 1-2 mr/hr. Since this package exceeded 50 mr/h+ at contact
and 1 mr/hr at 3 feet, a DOT Radioactive Yellow |I| label was required
on the exposure device (package). No DOT label was on the package.
A licensee representative stated that he was unaware that such a label

had to be affixed to the package.

The licensee representative stated that they only placard the vehicle
when they transport the cobalt exposure device. He stated that he was
not aware that, when the package required a DOT Radioactive Yellow
11 label, the vehicle had to be placarded. Since the iridium exposure
device required a Radioactive Yellow Ill label, the vehicle also had to
be placarded.

The exposure device was wedged in the dark room to prevent move-
ment; however, it was not adequately secured to prevent shifting while

in transit.
The finding that a DOT Radioactive Yellow Ill label was not affixed to
the exposure device while in transit is an apparent violation of 10 CFR

71.5(a) with regard to 49 CFR 172.403(c).

The finding that the vehicle was not placarded while transporting a

Radioactive Yellow |Il package is an apparent violation of 10 CFR
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71.5(a) with regard to 49 CFR 172.504(a) and Table | footnotes of that

section.
The finding that the radioactive exposure device was not secured in
crder to prevent shifting while in transit is an apparent violation of 10

CFR 71.5(a) with regard to 49 CFR 173.448(a).

NRC APPARENT VIOLATIONS (EA-85-01 LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 71.5(a) requires that licensed material being transported comply
with the applicable requirements of the regulations appropriate to the
mode of transport of the Department of Transportation in 49 CFR Parts
170-189.

e 49 CFR 172,403(c) requires that packages containing radioactive
material with radiation levels in excess of 50 millirem per hour at
the package surface of 1 millirem per hour at three feet be af-

fixed with a Radioactive Yellow Il1 label.

Contrary to the above, on October 19, 1984, a radioactive ex-
posure device exhibiting radiation levels of 60 millirem per hour
at the surface and 1-2 millirem per hour at three feet was trans-

ported without a Radioactive Yellow |l label affixed to the de-

vice.
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r A 49 CFR 172.504(a) requires that a vehicle carrying packages
bearing the Radioactive Yeiiow lii iabel be placarded on each end

and each side with "Radioactive" placards.

Contrary to the above, on October 19, 1984, a radioactive ex-
posure device that should have been labeled with a Radioactive
Yellow |1l label was transported in a vehicle which was not pro-

perly placarded.

3. 49 CFR 173.448(a) requires each shipment of radioactive material
to be secured in order to prevent shifting during normal trans-

portation conditions.

Contrary to the above, on October 18, 1984, a radioactive
exposure device was transported without being secured to the

vehicle in order to prevent shifting suring normal transport.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

HNS agrees with these NRC findings. However, HNS does note that
the inspection report does not document that the Source Storage Utili-
zation Log required by License Condition 17 was evaluated to confirm

the inspectors conversations with the license representative.
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(6) CITATION: DID NOT ADEQUATELY SURVEY A RADIO-

GRAPH C EXPOSURE DEVICE AT THE CON-

CLUSION OF A RADIOGRAPHIC EXPOSURE

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34.43(b)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraph 3

The inspectors observed that both Individuals B and C did not survey
up the guide tube after the exposure was completed. This observation
was made on several different exposures for each of these two indi-
viduals. It was noted that Individual A did survey the guide tube

when he completed an exposure.
The finding that individuals performing radiography did not survey the
guide tube after each exposure is an apparent violation of 10 CFR

34.43(b).

NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-85-01; LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.43(b) requires that a physical radiation survey be made
after each radiographic exposure to determine that the sealed source
has been returned to its shielded position. The entire circumference of

the radiographic exposure device must be surveyed and, if the device
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has a source guide tube, the survey must include the entire length of

the guide tube.

Contrary to the above, on October 18, 1984, a radiographer's assistant
did not perform a survey that was adequate to determine that the
sealed source had returned to its shielded position in that the survey
did not include the entire circumference of the exposi're device and the
entire length of the guide tube.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

After discussion with NAIl personnel and review of the NAIl license
application, HNS disagrees in part with this NRC finding. License
Condition 17 of NAIll's license grants them an exemption from the
circumferential survey requirement. Specifically, Section 4.9 (a) (2)
(see Attachment 11) of NAIll's license application states an alternate
method of exposure device survey upon retraction of the radiography
source back into the exposure device. The NRC license reviewer
approved this alternate method. Therefore, NAIl was only in
noncompliance for not surveying the source guide tube after the
completion of an exposure. NAIl did survey at the "nipple outlet" at

the completion of each exposure,
HNS notes that the 84-01 inspection report does not mention any viol-

ation of the circumferential survey which is stated in the "Contrary to"

section of the citation in the Notice of Violation.
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(7) CITATION: DID NOT MAINTAIN UTILIZATION LOGS INDI-

CATING THE PLANT OR SITE WHERE THE

RADIATION EXPOSURE DEVICES ARE USED

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34.27

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20982/84-01

Paragraph 6

The inspectors reviewed the utilization log. This log contains inform-
ation describing the exposure device, the radiographer assigned, plant
site, and date out and date in with radiographer initials. It was noted
that the cobalt-60 exposure device was not in storage and not entered
on the log. A licensee representative stated the source was at a field
site (Bethlehem Steel), but agreed that information was not indicated in
the log. It was also noted that, if a source was assigned to a field site
and was replaced, the utilization log did not indicate the disposal of the

old source and the replacement of the new source.
The inspectors reviewed the quarterly inventories and found them to
contain all of the required information, Each source was accounted for

on the inventory.

The finding that the cobalt exposure device was at a field site and an
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appropriate entry was not on the utilization log is an apparent violation

of '0 CFR 34.27.

NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.27 requires that a utilization log be maintained indicating the

plant or site where the radiation exposure devices are used.
Contrary to the above, on October 19, 1984, a cobalt-60 exposure
device was used at a field site in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, but such

use was not indicated in the utilization log.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

HNS does not agree with this NRC finding. HNS reviewed the inform-
ation contained in the "SOURCE STORACE UTILIZATION LOG" (Form
RS-4-2). It appears to meet the requirements of 10 CFR 34.27. HNS
reviewed the "UTILIZATION LOG" (Form RS-4-6). It meets and exceeds
the requirement of 10 CFR 34,27, Discussions with the President of
NAIll indicated that the "SOURCE STORAGE UTILIZATION LOGC" was
designed as an administrative internal control by the company to know
what equipment was on hand to help plan for each day's work. The
"UTILIZATION LOGC" was designed to meet the requirement of 10 CFR
34.27 (see Attachment 12). The fact that NAIll chose to include addi-
tional information on this form which exceeds (he requirements of 10

CFR 34,27 is not prohibited by the requirement., HNS fails to under-
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stand the insistence of the NRC inspector that a form clearly marked
"SOURCE STORAGE UTILIZATION LOG" is the "official" utilization log
when another form clearly marked "UTILIZATION LOG" contains both
the required, plus additional information. Historically, NRC has never
told licensees how to keep records; rather that records must contain
the required information. During NRC Inspection No. 030-20982/85-01
(see Attachment 2; paragraph 8) at a field site, that NRC inspector
accepted Form RS-4-6 (UTILIZATION LOG) as the official record and
found it contained all the required information. Either the NRC is
inconsistent and arbitrary in its approach to this record or one of the
NRC inspectors was wrong in insisting that the "SOURCE STORAGE
UTILIZATION LOG" form was the "official" record. However since the
information for the Cobalt-60 source was contained on the "UTILIZ-
ATION LOG" at the field site, (see Attachment 12) no vio'ztion of 10
CFR 38.27 occurred. It should be no* ! that all sources were ac-
counted for during the required quarterly inventory log checks. 10
CFR 34.27 does not require that tre utilization iog note the replace-

ment/disposal of radiography sources us noted by the inspector.

The NRC letter dated August 7, 1985 (Appendix; p.6) does not
acknowledge that FORM RS-4-6 (UTILIZATION LOG), which was

submitted to NRC on February 21, 1985, exists and that it meets the

requirements of 10 CFR 34.27,
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(8) CITATION: DID NOT SUBMIT PERSONNEL TERMINATION

REPORTS FOR FOUR (4) INDIVIDUALS TO THE

NRC

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 20.408(b)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-209%2/84-01

Paragraph 8

A licensee representative stated that four radiographers had terminated
employment. The licensee sent termination reports to the individuals,

but did not include a copy to the NRC.
The finding that the licensee did not furnish a copy of individual
radiation exposure reports to the NRC is an apparent violation of 10

CFR 20.408(b).

APPARENT NRC VIOLATION (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 20.408(b) requires that a report be sent to the NRC of an

individual's exposure to radiation when he terminates employment.

Contrary to the above, since April 5, 1984, four individuals terminated

employment, but as of October 19, 1984, termination reports were not

provided to the NRC,

34



HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

HNS does not agree with NRC about the required number of termination
reports due to the NRC. 10 CFR 20.408(b) also states that such
reports shall be furnished within 30 days after the exposure of the
individual has been determined by the licensee or 90 days after the
date of termination of employment or work assignment, whichever is
earlier. NAIl uses a NAVLAP certified film badge service to evaluate
personnel exposures. GCenerally, as an industry rule, once a client
submits personnel film badges to the supplier for development, it
usually involves a period of more than 30 days for processing and
mailing time. Clients are only notified immediately by the film badge
supplier if one of their personnel has exceeded a predetermined ad-
ministrative or regulatory limit. NAII has always maintained personnel
exposures below requlatory limits and therefore have received no im-
mediate notifications concerning their personnel. By the time NAII
receives it's personnel exposure reports it is past the 30 day period.
For the two NAIl personnel who terminated employment on June 7, 1984
and June 12, 1984, their repor's were due to the Office of Nuclear
Regulatory Research by September, 1984. NAIl did not submit the
required report for these two individuals within the required 90 day
period. However, for two individuals who terminated employment on
8/2/84 and 10/12/84, the reports to the Office of Nuclear Regulatory
Research were not legaily due until November 1, 1984 and January 11,
1985 (see Attachment 13). NRC Inspection No. 030/20982/84-01 was

conducted on October 18 and 19, 1984. The NRC inspectors apparently
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assumed that NAIl would violate this requirement for these last two
individuals. The NRC inspectors either misunderstand or do not know
how to properly apply the requirements of this regulation. Therefore,
only two termination reports were not filed within the required time
period. HNS notes that the NRC inspection repcrt did not contain the

four dates of termination to demonstrate noncompliance.
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(9) CITATION: DID NOT HAVE A QUALIFIED RADIOGRAPHER

FROM ANOTHER COMPANY COMPLETE A

PRACTICAL EXAMINATION BEFORE BEING

ASSIGNED TO PERFORM RADIOGRAPHY,

REQUIREMENT: LICENSE CONDITION 17

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT 030-20982/85-01

Paragraph 2

The inspec’or reviewed the training records for selected radiographers
who work out of the Laurys Station office. He noted that one radio-
grapher had not completed practical performance examination prior to

his performing as a radiographer on December 28, 1984 and thereafter.
The failure to require an individual to complete a practical performance
examination before he was permitted to perform radiography constitutes

an apparent violation of Condition 17 of License No. 37-23370-01.

NRC APPARENT VIOLATION (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

Condition 17 of License No. 37-23370-01 requires that licensed material
be possessed and used in accordance with statements, representations,
and procedures contained in the application dated January 31, 1984,

and letters dated March 22, 1984, and May 4, 1984,
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Item 5.3.3 on page 5.2 of the application dated January 31, 1984,
requires that a person hired with radiographer credentials from another
company complete a practical performance examination before being

ascigned to perform radiography.

Contrary to the above, as of January 11, 1985, a person hired with
radiographer credentials from another company did not complete a
practical performance examination before being assigned to perform

radiography.

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

HNS agrees with this NRC finding.
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(10) CITATION: DID NOT SECURE A RADIOGRAPHY SOURCE IN

A SHIELDED POSITION AFTER EACH

EXPOSURE.

REQUIREMENT: 10 CFR 34.22(a)

EXCERPTS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-20980/85-01

Paragraph 8

The inspector observed the performance of several radiographic expos-
ures. He noted the use of personal monitoring equipment, survey
meters and collimation. He also observed that the radiographer and
provided direct surveillance to protect against unauthorized entry into a
high radiation area. During the exposures, the inspector observed the
proper placement of caution signs and that the radiographer surveyed
the radiation levels in unrestricted areas. The inspector noted that the
radiographer failed to secure the source in the shielded position after

each exposure.

This failure constitutes an apparent violation of 10 CFR 34.22(a).

NRC APPARENT VIiOLATION: (EA-85-01: LETTER DATED 2-6-85)

10 CFR 34.22(a) requires that, during radiography operations, the
sealed source assembly be secured in the shielded position each time the

source is returned to that position.
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Contrary to the above, on January 16, 1985, a radiographer performed
a number of radiographic exposures and cranked the source from the
end of the guide tube to the shielded position in the exposure device

each time, but did not secure the source between each exposure,

HNS FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

HNS reviewed NAll's license application. License Condition 17 of NRC
License No. 37-23370-01 requires that the exposure device be locked

after each radiographic exposure, therefore HNS agrees with the NRC

finding.
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SUMMARY

Using the NRC enforcement criteria in 10 CFR 2, Appendix C and the
former NRC inspection and enforcement experience of several members
of the HNS evaluation team (see Attachment 14), HNS has come to the
following conclusions. HNS concurs with the NRC findings in the

following areas with the accompanying senerity levels:

1) 10 CFR 34.43(b) NAIl did not do a survey of the source
guide tube as reported, however License
Condition 17 exempts NAIll from doing a
circumferential survey; Supplement VI;

Section D.2. Severity Level IV,

Z) 10 CFR 34.22(a) NAil did not lock the radiography device
after each exposure. Suppiement VI;

Section D.2. Severity Level |V,

3) 10 CFR 71.5 NAIll did not adequately secure the device
during transportation;
NAIl did not place DOT labels on the
exposure device;
NAIl did not placard the vehicle; Supple-

ment V; Section D.2. Severity Level IV,




4)

10 CFR 20.408(b)

License Condition 17

NAIl did not send ‘*ermination reports for
two, not four individuals as claimed by the
NRC. Suppliement [V: Section D.4,

Severity Level IV,

NAIl did not have a qualified radiographer
perform a practical examination upon
employment; Supplement VI; Section E.

Severity Level IV,

HNS does not concur with the NRC in the .ollowing areas:

1)

2)

3)

10 CFR 34.31(a)

10 CFR 34.41

10 CFR 20.105(b)
Violation C.1.

Violation C.2.

NRC misapplication of the regulation as

discussed in the report.

No high radiation area ever existed as

discussed in the report.

No radiation level greater than two milli-
rems in any one hour existed in the unre-

stricted area as discussed in the report.



u) 10 CFR 34,29 No permanent radiographic installation
exists at the Laurys Station facility as

discussed in the report,

5) 10 CFR 34,27 A utilization log exists for October 19,

1984 as is discussed in the report.

In retrospect, NAIll admits to having some management problems at the
time of inspection in October, 1984, as pointed out by the NRC. HNS
program evaluation of NAIl licensed activities during October and
November, 1985 indicates that NAIl has made major changes since the
initial NRC inspection. NAIl has a duty to act in a fair and responsible
manner under the license conditions as set for by NRC. HNS concurs

with NRC that certain management problems existed at the time of inspec-

tion,

In the way of major program improvements, the President of NAIl has
severed relationships with the Radiation Safety Officer named in the
original license application. This individual, who also wrote the appli-
cation, had previously been president of another nondestructive testing
company in the State of Ohio, where he also held an NRC license for
similar activities until he sold the company. He, being the Radiation
Safety Officer, was responsible for training of personnel and maintenance
of related records. He "assured" the President that all training had
been completed and documented as required by ~NRC. This individual

also placed himself on the Board of Directors of NAll as stated in the



license application without making a financial investment of NAIl, At one
point, this individual made a move to take over NAIl and become a major
shareholder and therefore control NAIl. HNS suspects that this indivi-
dual was not always "acting" in the best interest of NAIl. His letter
dated April 30, 1985 to the NRC which is included as an attachment to
NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20982/85-02 (see Attachment 4) is indic-

ative of issue.

NAIl currently has a license amendment request to NRC to approve
another individual as Radiation Safety Officer. This individual has gone

through NAIl files and reorganized them for easy retrieval.

He has also called in staff members for retraining because in going over
some of the tests given by the previous Radiation Safety Officer, mis-
takes were found in grading. These mistakes did not “unqualify” any

individual as required by License Condition 17.

The President also released the Operations Manager from his duties after
he had evaluated the Ceneral Manager's performance. The Operations
Manager had also acted as Assistant Radiation Safety Officer. Finally,
NAIl has sought an outside consulting group (HNS) to help evaluate and
upgrade the program. NAIl has spent the amount of the civil penalty
($5,000.00) in contracting services from HNS. 1* should be noted that
this does not relieve the President of MAIll of his original responsibilities

for the initial NRC findings.



As NAIl has a dutv to act in a responsible manner, so must NRC manaqge-
ment. As the President of NAIl had trusted his Radiation Safety Officer
and Operations Manager, so has NRC manaqgement trusted field personnel
in this instance to do their job as defined in their position description.
NAIl has to audit activities quarterly to evaluate their performance.
NRC management review acts as a similar mechanism for their own field
personnel, The HNS evaluaticn indicates the NRC reports are incom-
plete, inaccurate and lack documentation of evidence that is supposed to
place NAIl in noncompliance. This apparent lack is even all the more
crucial since this case represents an escalated enforcement action. This
was confirmed by the apparent errors in several areas of the press
release issued by NRC. This is also confirmed by the introduction of
information in the Notice of Violation and in NRC's Auqust 7, 1985 letter
which never appeared in the inspection reports or Notice of Violation
such that NAIl could adequately respond and the HNS finding that NRC
inspectors never questioned Individual A about conditions concerning
crucial matters for which NRC issued violations. Certain situations
apparently were not properly evaluated by NRC but rather action was
instigated on assumption. HNS recommends that this matter should be
taken before an Administrative Law Judge for a fair resolution of the
matter as regards NAll, since all other avenues have heen exhausted.
HNS concludes that NAIl had several Severity Level IV violations, a
situation usually handled by issuance of a Notice of Violation which
requires a licensee's response and corrective actions if any are
necessary. Unfortunately, this situation has proaressed far more than it

ever shouid have,



ATTACHMENT 1



0, UNITED STATES
‘r o NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
’ H REGION |
/ ] 631 PARK AVENUE
I KING OF PRUSSIA, PENNSY LVANIA 19408
i 0 8 NOV iv5e
Docket No. 30-20982 License No. 37-23370-01

North American Inupection, Inc.
ATTN: Robert K. Shumway
President
P. 0. Box 88
Laurys Station, Pennsylvania 18059

Gentlemen:
Subject: Inspection No. 30-20982/84-01

This refers to the routine safety inspection conducted Mr. J. Davis and

Mr. J. McFadden of this office on October 18 and 19, 1944 of activities authur-
1zed by NRC License No. 37-23370-01 and to the discussions of our findings held
by Mr. Davis and Mr. McFadden with yourself and members of your staff at the
conclusion of the inspection, and to a subsequent telephone discussion between
yourself and Mr. J. Joyner on October 25, 1964.

Areas examined during this inspection are described in the NRC Region I Inspec-
tion Report which is enclosed with this letter. Within these areas, the in-
spection consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative
records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector.

As discussed during the telephone conversation between yourself and Mr. Joyner
the apparent violations identified during this inspection will be discussed at
an Enforcement Conference at our office in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania at
10:00 a.m., November 14, 1984. We understand that you will attend this meeting
with members of your staff. You should be prepared to discuss the causes of
these apparent violations and your proposed corrective action. Enforcement
action for these violations will be considered following the Conference. The
NRC Enforcement Policy is described in Appendix C of 10 CFR Part 2, a copy of
which is enclosed for your information.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790(a), a copy of this letter and the enclosure
will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room.

No reply to this letter is required. Your cooperation with us in this matter
is appreciated.

Sincerely,

T AN

s T. Martin, Director
Didision of Engineering and
“Technical Programs

Enclosure: NRC Region [ Inspection Report No. 30-20982/84-01

.
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North American Inspection, Inc.

cc w/encls:

Public Document Ruom (POR)

Nuclear Safety Information Center (NSIC)
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania



U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

REGION 1
Report No. B84-01
Docket No. 030-20982
License No. 37-23370-01 Priority 1 Category C1

Licensee: North American Inspection, Inc.
P. 0. Box
Laurys Station, Pennsylvania 18059

Facility Name: North American Inspection, Inc.

Inspection At: Licensee's Facilities at 3906 Main Street Laurys Station
PennsyTvania and a field Jocation at the Bethlehem Stee1'ﬁlant,
BethTehem, Pennsylvania

Inspection Conducted: October 18-19, 1984

Inspectors: D“’é /7/-¥- ?}/

Rpdration Specialist date

il N-F‘W

adiation Specialist date

[ — /"'J‘H

1ef, Nuclear Material date

inneman, Ch
ion A

Inspection Summary: Routine, unannounced inspection of radiation safety pro-
97>~ _on October 18 and 19, 1984

Ar.as Inspected: Management control systems, fiel< site inspection, training
and qualifications of personnel, licensee internal audits, operating and emer-
gency procedures, use of materials, facilities and equipment, personnel moni-
toring control, leak tests, surveys, and transportation,

Results: Ten zpparent violations were identified: Conduct of radiography
without the personal supervision of a radiographer (paragraph 4); Conduct of
radiography without direct surveillance of a high radiation area (paragraph 3);
Excessive radiation levels in an unrestricted area (peragraph 3 and 7);
Feilure to have an alarm in the permanent rediograptic installation (paragraph
7): Feilure to survey the guide tube after cerpleting the radiographic
exposure (naragraph 3); Failure to maintain current utilization logs
(paragraph 6); Ffailure to affix a D.0.T. Racioactive Yellow I1] label to
exposure devices during transit (paragraph 10); Failure to placard a vehicle
containing a Yellow ITI package (paragraph 10); Failure to secure exposure
devices while in transit (paragraph 10); Failure to provide the NRC with a
copy of termination reports (paragraph 8).

' " w’



1.

Persons Contacted

Principal Licensee Employees

*R. K. Shumway, President
*J. Guthrie, Operations Manager
*G. Weaver, Assistant Radiation Safety Officer
Individual A
Individual B
Individual C
Individual D

*Denotes those present at the exit interview.

Organization Facility and Equipment

- humway is the President and Radiation Safety Officer for the
licensee. . 6uthrie, the Operations Manager, is also an Assistant
Radiation Safety } nd reports directly to Mr. Shumway.

Mr. G. Weaver is another Ass adiation Safety Officer and also
reports to Mr. Shumway. The radiograp® r. Guthrie.

ime of the inspection, the licensee possessed five iridium-192
sources rangin ivity from 20 to 100 curies in a Technical
Operation Model 660 and tries Model Gamma Century S exposure
devices. In addition, they had one ¢ rce of 90 curies in a
Gamma Industries Model Gammatron 100A exposure device:

€ present time, they employ five crews of one or more radiographers.
The 11 € representative stated that the<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>